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From: Pintozzi Keri
To: Zuver, Christian C
Cc: Beatty, Crystal
Subject: Re:COPCN Application
Date: Friday, August 27, 2021 9:43:47 AM

Good Morning- Yes, approved to change the request to: Osceola Regional Hospital, Inc. d/b/a
Osceola Regional Medical Center
 
Thank you,
Keri Pintozzi
P 407.518.3520  |  M 407.433.9219
 

From: Christian.Zuver@ocfl.net <Christian.Zuver@ocfl.net> 
Sent: Friday, August 27, 2021 9:37 AM
To: Pintozzi Keri <Keri.Pintozzi@hcahealthcare.com>
Cc: Crystal.Beatty@ocfl.net
Subject: {EXTERNAL} COPCN Application
 
CAUTION! This email originated from outside of our organization. DO NOT CLICK links or open
attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.

Ms. Pintozzi
 
Good Morning.  I am completing the review of Osceola Regional Medical Center Inter-facility
Transport’s application for a COPCN to provide BLS and ALS Interfacility Transport. Before we
can process the application any further,  I need clarification on the name the COPCN may be
issued to.  In communications after the application was received, it was requested that the
COPCN be issued to Osceola Regional Medical Center. According to the Florida Department
of State, this is a fictitious name registered to Osceola Regional Hospital, Inc.  Thus, a COPCN
could be issued to Osceola Regional Hospital, Inc. d/b/a Osceola Regional Medical Center.  If
this is satisfactory, please email me a response changing the request to:

Osceola Regional Hospital, Inc. d/b/a Osceola Regional Medical Center
 

Thank you,
 

 
Christian C. Zuver MD, FACEP 
Medical Director
Orange County EMS System
2002-A East Michigan Street
Orlando, Florida 32806
P(407) 836-7606 | F(407) 836-7625  
8 christian.zuver@ocfl.net
.

 
 
 

mailto:Keri.Pintozzi@hcahealthcare.com
mailto:Christian.Zuver@ocfl.net
mailto:Crystal.Beatty@ocfl.net
mailto:christian.zuver@ocfl.net


PLEASE NOTE: Florida has a very broad public records law (F. S. 119).
All e-mails to and from County Officials are kept as a public record.
Your e-mail communications, including your e-mail address may be
disclosed to the public and media at any time.
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Zuver, Christian C

From: Beatty, Crystal
Sent: Tuesday, July 13, 2021 1:32 PM
To: Zuver, Christian C
Subject: FW: Osceola Regional COPCN

See her answer regarding the vehicles.  
 

From: Pintozzi Keri <Keri.Pintozzi@hcahealthcare.com>  
Sent: Tuesday, July 13, 2021 1:31 PM 
To: Beatty, Crystal <Crystal.Beatty@ocfl.net> 
Subject: Re:Osceola Regional COPCN 
 

Sure. We haven’t purchased any vehicles yet, as we are waiting for the approval of the COPCNs first. Osceola 
County already approved our COPCN. Seminole County has it on their BoCC meeting 8/10. The vehicles we 
plan on buying will be Type III Ambulances. We will be purchasing 2 Type III for any volume increases or if one 
of the ambulances break down. We will be staffed 24/7 for both vehicles. 
 
Keri Pintozzi 
P 407.518.3520  |  M 407.433.9219 

 

From: Crystal.Beatty@ocfl.net <Crystal.Beatty@ocfl.net>  
Sent: Tuesday, July 13, 2021 1:25 PM 
To: Pintozzi Keri <Keri.Pintozzi@hcahealthcare.com> 
Cc: Crystal.Beatty@ocfl.net 
Subject: {EXTERNAL} RE: Osceola Regional COPCN 
 

CAUTION! This email originated from outside of our organization. DO NOT CLICK links or open attachments unless you 
recognize the sender and know the content is safe. 

Also,  can you supply the following: 
 
“A description of each vehicle to be used in the applicant's operations, including the make, model, mileage, all 
vehicle identification and registration numbers.”  In the application you only said “purchase of 2 Wheeled Coach 
Citymedic Type III ambulances”. 
 
Crystal 
 

From: Beatty, Crystal  
Sent: Tuesday, July 13, 2021 1:22 PM 
To: 'Pintozzi Keri' <Keri.Pintozzi@hcahealthcare.com> 
Cc: Beatty, Crystal <Crystal.Beatty@ocfl.net> 
Subject: RE: Osceola Regional COPCN 
 
Keri, 
 
What name should go on the COPCN (if approved) as there are several in the application. 
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HCA 
Osceola Regional Medical Center 
Osceola Regional Medical Center Inter‐facility Transportation 
 
Thanks 
 
 

From: Beatty, Crystal  
Sent: Tuesday, July 13, 2021 10:27 AM 
To: 'Pintozzi Keri' <Keri.Pintozzi@hcahealthcare.com> 
Subject: RE: Osceola Regional COPCN 
 
Your application was submitted to my Medical Director, he and the County Attorney are reviewing it. 
 

From: Pintozzi Keri <Keri.Pintozzi@hcahealthcare.com>  
Sent: Tuesday, July 13, 2021 10:22 AM 
To: Beatty, Crystal <Crystal.Beatty@ocfl.net> 
Subject: Re:Osceola Regional COPCN 
 

Good Morning Crystal‐ Hope all is well. Any updates on Osceola’s COPCN? I remember you mentioning 
that there is a process of posting in Orlando Sentinel, Medical Director review and then on the Board of 
County Commissioners agenda. Just wondering where it is in the process.  
 
Thank you, 
Keri Pintozzi 
P 407.518.3520  |  M 407.433.9219 

 

From: Crystal.Beatty@ocfl.net <Crystal.Beatty@ocfl.net>  
Sent: Wednesday, June 30, 2021 12:51 PM 
To: Pintozzi Keri <Keri.Pintozzi@hcahealthcare.com> 
Subject: {EXTERNAL} RE: Millenia ER 
 

CAUTION! This email originated from outside of our organization. DO NOT CLICK links or open attachments unless 
you recognize the sender and know the content is safe. 

Hello Keri, 
 

Just emailing you to let you know I received your COPCN application today. 😊 
 
Crystal 

PLEASE NOTE: Florida has a very broad public records law (F. S. 119). 
All e‐mails to and from County Officials are kept as a public record. 
Your e‐mail communications, including your e‐mail address may be 
disclosed to the public and media at any time. 





 
 
 
 
 
 
100 North Tampa Street 
Suite 3700 
Tampa, Florida 33602 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Telephone: 813-229-3500 
Facsimile: 813-229-3502 

www.mpdlegal.com  

 

 

September 30, 2021 
 

Via FedEx and Electronic Mail 
Dr. Christian C. Zuver 
Christian.Zuver@ocfl.net 
Emergency Medical Services Office  
2002-A East Michigan Street 
Orlando, Florida 32806 
 
 Re: Objection to Application of Osceola Regional Hospital, Inc. for COPCN 
  MPD File No. 120316 
 
Dear Dr. Zuver, 

Our firm represents Lifefleet Southeast, Inc., d/b/a American Medical Response 
(“AMR”) as an existing holder of a Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity (“COPCN”) 
to operate Advanced Life Support (“ALS”) and Basic Life Support (“BLS”) interfacility services 
in Orange County.  Pursuant to Section 20-92(b)(2) of the Orange County Code of Ordinances, 
AMR hereby files this objection (the “Objection”) to the Application of Osceola Regional 
Hospital, Inc. (the “Applicant”) for a COPCN to operate ALS/BLS interfacility service within 
Orange County.  This Objection is timely under Section 20-92(b)(2) because it has been served 
within 30 days of the County’s notice of the Application.  

Applicable Standards and Grounds for Objection 

In reviewing an application for a COPCN, Section 20-92(b)(1) of the Code requires the 
Emergency Medical Services Office (the “EMSO”) to “investigate the public need for the 
proposed service”.  Further, in reviewing the EMSO’s recommendation on the application, 
Section 20-93(b) of the Code requires “the board of county commissioners shall determine that 
the proposed service, to the extent to be authorized by the certificate, is or will be required by the 
present or future public convenience or necessity . . .”  

Here, the Applicant has failed to demonstrate that granting it a COPCN will be in the 
public convenience and necessity. Section 20-92(a)(6) of the County Code requires verification 
of staffing requirements and “certification of personnel to be employed.” The Application 
completely fails to adequately describe how its transport or operations will be staffed. Rather, on 
p. 2, the Application merely states “Start-up operations- hiring process has not begun.” A 

http://www.mpdlegal.com
mailto:Christian.Zuver@ocfl.net
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Mills Paskert Divers 
100 North Tampa Street ♦ Suite 3700 ♦ Tampa, Florida 33602 

complete lack of staff description is problematic not only because it does not comply with the 
County Code, but, as you are aware from the application filed concurrently by First 2 Aid EMS, 
there is a lack of qualified EMS and paramedics in Orange County and throughout Florida. The 
question must be asked: where is the Applicant here (along with First 2 Aid) going to find 
employees? The answer is that they will have to attempt to raid existing providers. Such activity 
will not advance the public convenience and necessity and the net result (if they are successful in 
poaching employees) would simply be a reshuffling of employees with no capacity added to 
service or benefit to the County. Further demonstrating the Applicant’s lack of experience in the 
transportation industry, is the fact that it does not have any ambulances and must purchase them 
as set forth on p. 2 of the Application. Again, this is a “start up” (in the Applicant’s owner 
words) operation and the Application demonstrates no unmet need for additional service in 
Orange County. Rather, the Applicant is an existing hospital that is seeking a COPCN for its own 
private interests instead of demonstrating how public convenience and necessity requires the 
issuance of new ALS and BLS permits for trips that AMR and the other existing providers can 
easily accommodate.  

Finally, at the August 6, 2019, Board of County Commissioners Meeting the Board 
considered the application of Affordable Transport, Inc. (“ATI”) for an ALS interfacility 
COPCN. The Board granted ATI a limited COPCN to service a specific facility only. However, 
during the public hearing, the Board recognized that the Code provisions regarding review and 
adjudication of COPCN applications needed to be revised to “perfect the process regarding 
determination of need going forward.” See Public Hearing Report details available on the 
County’s website. The Board recognized that COPCN applicants, like the Applicant here, should 
have to meet a more precise process and specific evidentiary standard of proving that an unmet 
need exists before being granted a COPCN and the Code should be revised accordingly. The 
Code, however, remains unchanged since August 6, 2019. As such, consideration of the current 
application should be postponed (if it is not outright rejected due to lack of proof of need) until 
the Code can be revised in accordance with the Board’s directives 

For all of the foregoing reasons, American Medical Response, as an existing provider of 
ALS/BLS interfacility service in Orange County, respectfully requests that the Application of 
Osceola Regional Medical Center be denied.  

Should you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me at (813) 229-3500. 

Best regards, 
 
MILLS PASKERT DIVERS 
 
/s/ S. Jordan Miller  
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Mills Paskert Divers 
100 North Tampa Street ♦ Suite 3700 ♦ Tampa, Florida 33602 

Jordan Miller 
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September 29, 2021 

VIA HAND DELIVER and E-MAIL 

Dr. Christian Zuver 
Medical Director 
Orange County Emergency Medical Services 
2002 E. Michigan Street 
Orlando, FL 32806 
christian.zuver@ocfl.net 

Re: Objection to Osceola Regional Medical Center COPCN Application 

Dr. Zuver: 

Our firm represents RG Ambulance Service, Inc. d/b/a American Ambulance, an existing holder of a 
Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity (“COPCN”) to operate Advance Life Support (“ALS”) 
and Basic Life Support (BLS) interfacility services in Orange County. Pursuant to Section 20-92 (b)(2) of 
the Orange County Code of Ordinances, RG Ambulance hereby files this objection to the Application of 
Osceola Regional Medical Center Inter-Facility Transport (hereinafter “Osceola Regional” or the 
“Applicant”) for COPCN to operate ALS / BLS interfacility service within Orange County. This 
objection is timely under Section 20-92(b)(2) because it has been served within 30 days of the County’s 
notice of the Application. 

Applicable Standards and Grounds for Objection 

In reviewing an application for a COPCN, Section 20-92(b)(1) of the Code requires the Emergency 
Medical Office (the “EMSO”) to “investigate the public need for the proposed service”. Further, in 
reviewing the EMSO’s recommendation on the application, Section 20-93(b) of the Code requires “the 
board of county commissioners shall determine that the proposed service, to the extent to be authorized 
by the certificate, is or will be required by the present and future public convenience or necessity…” In 
fact, Section 20-92(a)(4) requires a “statement of facts showing the demand or need for the proposed 
service” in the application. In other words, the Orange County Code requires that the applicant 
demonstrate that there is a need for additional interfacility service in the County and that the existing 
service is not adequate to meet the public need in the service category. 

Florida law also requires that applicants seeking a certificate of public convenience and necessity for 
transportation services carry the burden of providing that existing service is inadequate. See: Surf Coast 
Tours, Inc. v Florida Public Service Commission, 385 So. 2d 1353, 1355 (Fla. 1980) (recognizing that an 
evaluation of “the adequacy of the existing services” must be measured by evaluating existing service 
providers’ performance and the applicant has the burden of proving substandard performance); Stewart 
Bonded Warehouse, Inc v Bevis, 294 SO. 2d 315 (Fla. 1974) (holding that an applicant shall not receive a 
certificate of public convenience and necessity if it fails to demonstrate that existing service is 
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PROFESSIONAL ASSOCIATION

inadequate). See also: Great Southern Trucking Co. v Mack, 54 So. 2d 153, 156 (Fla. 1951) in which the 
Court acknowledged that: 

Statutes in this connection (public transportation) generally contemplate and frequently 
expressly require that additional new service from a different source shall not be 
permitted to supersede or vitally impair the present transportation service, where that is or 
may become adequate to the public needs. Existing investment should be conserved, and 
present service protected, where adequate and satisfactory, in the interest of justice and 
public welfare. 

Here the Applicant, while known in the community as an excellent provider of healthcare, has completely 
failed to demonstrate public necessity for additional ALS/BLS interfacility service as required by Florida 
law and the Orange County Code.  In fact, p.2 of the Application section 9 requires “STATEMENT OF 
FACTS SHOWING DEMAND OR NEED FOR THE PROPOSED SERVICE”. The Applicant’s 
statement: 

The service would provide inter-facility transportation (Advanced Life Support and Basic 
Life Support Services) of emergency room patients and patients to be admitted from 
Hunters Creek and Millenia Free-standing ER’ to main hospital, Osceola Regional 
Medical Center. Eventually to transport to and from other HCA facilities.

The applicant’s statement of need and necessity is inadequate, lacks supporting documentation of FACT 
and does not meet the requirements of Section 20-92.  This generic statement of need puts the entire 
burden on the EMSO team to determine need, despite there being no demand or calls for reform of the 
current COPCN holders.  Without an applicant putting forward any data even suggesting a real, 
identifiable need, the application fails to meet the basic requirements of the County’s code.  

Additionally, Section 20-92 (a)(6) of the County Code requires verification of staffing requirements and 
“certification of personnel to be employed”. The Applicant admits:  

Start-up operations- hiring has not begun. Will hire to staff both ambulances 24/7. 

The applicant admits they currently do not have staff in place to begin this operation. Based on the past 
eighteen months (18) months of a world pandemic, there is a significant shortage of licensed EMTs and 
Paramedics available in the hiring pool.  This shortage has been felt not only on a local level but on a 
statewide and national level.  Local colleges were forced to cease, curtail and suspend the training 
required to certify EMT and Paramedics which further eroded the pool of applicants.  Approval of this 
Applicant will only exasperate this critical level of employees. Additionally, the net result would simply 
be a reshuffling of employees with no capacity added to the service or benefit to the County. In fact, 
approval of this Applicant will cause a negative effect on the remaining health care institutions in Orange 
County as the service level to the remainder of the County will become diminished due to a reduction in 
available staff. 

Conclusion 
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There is a significant defect with the Application that merits its denial. RG Ambulance Service, Inc. d/b/a 
American Ambulance would be able to further demonstrate that it and other providers within Orange 
County have the capacity serve the ALS/BLS interfacility market. Should this application for interfacility 
be granted, without any demonstrated need for the service in Orange County, the intent behind Florida’s 
certificate of need statute and the County Code implementing the statute would be completely 
disregarded. RG Ambulance Service, Inc. d/b/a American Ambulance has an outstanding reputation in 
Orange County and the surrounding communities.  To date we have not received one single complaint of 
service or violation from the EMSO in almost two decades. 

For the reasons identified , RG Ambulance Service, as an existing provider of ALS/BLS interfacility 
service provider within Orange County, respectfully request that the Application of Osceola Regional 
Medical Center Inter-facility Transport, be denied. 

Sincerely, 

Chris Carmody 

CC 



MEMORANDUM 
  
TO:  Mayor Jerry L. Demings 

and 
County Commissioners  

 
THRU: Yolanda G. Martinez, EdPh.D, PhD., Director 
 Health Services Department 
 
FROM: Christian C. Zuver, MD, Medical Director 
  Office of the Medical Director/EMS Division 
  Contact: (407) 836-7320 
 
DATE: October 15, 2021 
 

                 RE: EMS’s Recommendation on Osceola Regional Hospital Inc. d/b/a Osceola 
Regional Medical Center’s Application for a Certificate of Public Convenience and 
Necessity to Provide Interfacility Basic and Advanced Life Support Transport 
Services in Orange County 

                                                                                                                                         
 
Chapter 20, Article III, Division 2, Subdivision II of the Orange County Code delineates the 
process for obtaining a Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity (“COPCN”) as required 
to provide emergency medical care or transportation services in Orange County.  Applications for 
a COPCN must be made on forms provided by Orange County’s Emergency Medical Services 
Office (“EMSO”) and must contain, among other things, a statement of facts showing the demand 
or need for the proposed service, verification that staffing requirements will be met, and such other 
reasonable information as may be required by Orange County’s Health Services Department 
(“Department”).  Upon receiving an application for a COPCN, EMSO makes an investigation into 
the application and the public need for the proposed service.  After concluding its investigation, 
EMSO makes a recommendation to the Orange County Board of County Commissioners (the 
“Board” or “BCC”) to either grant or deny the application, or grant the application with such 
conditions of approval as the Department feels are necessary.  The purpose of this Memorandum 
is to provide the BCC with a recommendation on Osceola Regional Hospital Inc. d/b/a Osceola 
Regional Medical Center’s (the “Applicant” or “Osceola Regional”) application for a COPCN in 
accordance with Section 20-92(b)(3), Orange County Code.       
 
On July 13, 2021, Osceola Regional submitted its amended application and attachments for a 
COPCN to EMSO seeking to provide interfacility Basic Life Support (“BLS”) and Advanced Life 
Support (“ALS”) Transport Services within the geographical areas of and primarily transporting 
from Hunter’s Creek Freestanding ER (12100 S. John Young Pkwy., Orlando, FL 32837) and 
Millenia Free-standing ER (4056 Millenia Blvd., Orlando, FL 32839) to Osceola Regional Medical 
Center (700 West Oak Street, Kissimmee, FL 34741). (the “Application”).   In response to EMSO’s 
request for an employee roster in Section 1, Subsection 12 of the Application, the Applicant stated 
that it was in start-up operations and that the hiring process had not begun, but that it will hire to 
staff both ambulances 24/7.  Additionally, in response to EMSO’s request for a State of Florida 
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ALS License Number in Attachment III of the Application, the Applicant stated that it was in the 
process of filing an application for an ALS License the State of Florida.  Finally, in response to 
EMSO’s request for a vehicle roster with registration numbers in Attachment V of the Application, 
the Applicant stated that it had not purchased any vehicles yet as it was waiting for the approval 
of the COPCNs first but that it planned on buying two Type III ambulances.     
 
EMSO investigated Osceola Regional’s Application and the public need for BLS and ALS 
interfacility transport services within Orange County.  This is a unique Application because the 
Applicant is a hospital system that operates facilities in Orange County and currently utilizes the 
services of existing COPCN holders for its interfacility transport.  As such, the Applicant is 
requesting a COPCN on its own behalf primarily to transport patients between its own facilities.  
Accordingly, a business agreement is not required to initiate transport.  Despite the absence of a 
business agreement, EMSO has concluded that the Applicant has demonstrated a need or demand 
for such services in this case.   
 
However, as of the date of this Memorandum, the Applicant has not provided EMSO with an 
employee roster or a State of Florida ALS License Number.  The Applicant states it will commence 
hiring at a later date, that all paramedics will be State certified and that it will provide an attestation 
of this fact to EMSO upon onboarding, and that it will have staffing coverage 24/7/365.  The 
Applicant states that it is in the process of filing an application for an ALS License with the State 
of Florida and that its ALS License is pending.  On October 11, 2021, the Applicant informed 
EMSO that it had purchased two Type III ambulances and provided EMSO with limited 
descriptions of the vehicles.     
 
EMSO recommends that the Board grant Osceola Regional’s Application for a COPCN to provide 
BLS and ALS transport services in Orange County with the following conditions of approval as 
believed to be necessary by the Department and EMSO.  Prior to providing any BLS or ALS 
interfacility transport services under this Orange County COPCN, Osceola Regional shall provide 
the following information to EMSO which shall be deemed sufficient at EMSO’s discretion: 

(1) A current State of Florida ALS License Number;  
(2) A current employee roster and verification that all staffing requirements have been met; 

and 
(3) A vehicle roster including the registration numbers of each vehicle to be used during 

operations. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Grant Osceola Regional Hospital Inc. d/b/a Osceola Regional 

Medical Center’s Application for a Certificate of Public 
Convenience and Necessity to Provide Interfacility Basic and 
Advanced Life Support Transport Services in Orange County on the 
condition that Osceola Regional Hospital Inc. d/b/a Osceola 
Regional Medical Center provide the following information to 
EMSO prior to providing any BLS or ALS interfacility transport 
services in Orange County which shall be deemed sufficient at 
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EMSO’s discretion: (1) a current State of Florida ALS License 
Number; (2) a current employee roster and verification that all 
staffing requirements have been met; and (3) a vehicle roster 
including the registration numbers of each vehicle to be used during 
operations.     

 
 
 
Attachments  
 
cc: Byron W. Brooks, AICP, County Administrator 
 Danny Banks, Deputy County Administrator 
       
  
  




